RECEIVED

Jan 13 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000448

Pickens County, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and
MRR Pickens, LLC..... Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER MRR PICKENS, LLC

Chad N. Johnston
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.
930 Richland Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 252-3300
cjohnston@willoughbyhoefer.com

R. Walker Humphrey, II
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.
133 River Landing Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
(843) 619-4426
whumphrey@willoughbyhoefer.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law and in contravention of the doctrine of exhaustion of remedies in concluding that the County's request for review was timely under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E)(2) when the County indisputably filed its request 99 days after it received actual notice of the permit modification?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals exceed the scope of its review by invading the province of the fact finder, substituting its contrary view of the unappealed findings of the ALC, and making *de novo* findings of fact and conclusions of law beyond the narrow, threshold question of the timeliness of the County's action, all without factual basis in the record or based on an incomplete record, regarding issues that were neither raised to and nor ruled upon by the ALC, and which pertain to the merits of the underlying dispute?
- III. Assuming that the ancillary factual and legal questions reached *de novo* by the Court of Appeals are relevant to the sole question of timeliness, did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in not remanding this matter to the ALC?
- IV. Assuming that the ancillary factual and legal questions reached *de novo* by the Court of Appeals are relevant to the sole question of timeliness, in making its *de novo* findings of fact and conclusions of law, did the Court of Appeals further err in failing to defer to the interpretation by DHEC of its regulations with respect to an issue that is inherently discretionary in nature?
- V. Does the Court of Appeals misapprehend the practice and procedure in the ALC with respect to what constitutes "pleadings" of the parties available for consideration in deciding a motion to dismiss?

INTRODUCTION

At its core, this appeal is rather simple. It involves the implications of actual notice in this state on a party's rights and obligations, as well as the application of the proper appellate standard of review to discrete decisions of the lower court involving dismissal of administrative challenges to permit decisions on timeliness grounds. Here, an interested party received actual notice of an administrative permit decision, along with the attendant knowledge of its rights and obligations to seek timely review of the decision, but sat on its administrative rights and did not seek administrative review for over three months. Such is the undisputed record of Respondent Pickens County's (County) actions in this case. To mask this patent failure, the County turned this permit decision into something it was not: controversial and the result of bad faith. Through a concocted tale of subterfuge and manipulation, the County has leveled one unfounded and gratuitous allegation after another against Petitioners MRR Pickens, LLC (MRR) and the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC), along with the employees and agents of both. This appeal, the permit modification, and these Petitioners, are none of those things.

The sole issue presented to Administrative Law Court (ALC) was whether the County timely filed a request for final review by the DHEC Board of a permit modification issued to MRR. The ALC narrowly answered that question in the negative, given the undisputed timeline of events and expressly declined to go any further. Seeking a different audience for its unfounded and unpreserved claims of impropriety, the County sought to greatly expand the scope of the appeal beyond the discrete issue ruled upon. The Court of Appeals obliged. However, the record will reflect the fact that the Court of Appeals failed to apply the appropriate standard of review, disregarded undisputed and unchallenged findings of fact by the ALC, made *de novo* findings of fact and law regarding issues the ALC expressly declined to reach on issues that went well beyond

the limited timeliness issue before the court, reached the merits of the case on an incomplete and undeveloped record, and failed to defer to the interpretation and discretion of the agency charged with implementing the applicable regulations.

In truth, the discrete timeliness issue was rendered unfortunately complex by the County's efforts in casting the permit modification as untoward and controversial, which efforts were rewarded in Opinion No. 5707, filed January 8, 2020. (Opinion). The Court of Appeals made reversible error by (1) finding actual notice does not require a timely appeal; and (2) treating an appeal of a lower court dismissal as an opportunity to rule on the merits of the case through *de novo* reversal of the agency decision. The Opinion cannot be squared with this Court's precedent on, and elevates form over substance in the review of cases involving, actual notice, exhaustion of remedies, and agency deference and discretion. It also represents an extraordinary departure from established practices and procedures for a court sitting in appellate review of a final agency decision, and creates an open-ended window to challenge certain DHEC permit decisions. Under the Opinion's holdings, neither DHEC nor a permittee can ever be sure that a non-publicly noticed decision is final and free from challenge, needlessly begetting uncertainty in the regulated community. This could not have been the intent of the legislature, which expressly allowed certain DHEC permits to be issued absent public notice. For these and the many reasons that follow, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

DHEC issued Permit LF2-00003 (“Permit”) to MRR for the construction of a Class 2 landfill on November 3, 2008. **(App. pp. 422-27)** Absent land-clearing activities, the landfill remains unconstructed to this day. **(App. pp. 141-42)** On March 30, 2015, MRR sought a modification to the permit for that unconstructed landfill to allow it the option of installing a liner and associated leachate collection system. **(App. pp. 73-79, 506)** DHEC deemed the modification request “minor” under the applicable regulations and staff thereafter issued a minor modification of the Permit on August 10, 2015 (“Minor Modification”). **(App. pp. 73-79)** No timely challenge to the Minor Modification was instituted. According to the County, it only learned of the modification on or around December 15, 2015, during a meeting with DHEC regarding the landfill and Permit. The County first filed a request for final review of the Minor Modification with the DHEC Board on March 23, 2016. **(App. pp. 203-14)** The DHEC Board declined to conduct a final review conference by letter dated April 21, 2016. **(App. pp. 201-02)**

The County then filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing before the ALC on May 19, 2016. **(App. p. 200)** At the direction of the ALC, each of the parties filed and served prehearing statements on July 5, 2016. **(App. pp. 55-87)** Thereafter, MRR and DHEC each filed motions to dismiss the contested case on July 28 and July 29, 2016, respectively.¹ **(App. pp. 215-32, 488-639)** The primary basis for dismissal was that the County’s request for review to the DHEC Board, and subsequent request for contested case review by the ALC, was untimely, as the County had failed to timely exhaust its administrative remedies, and the ALC therefore lacked jurisdiction to hear the contested case. The ALC held a hearing on these motions on December 2, 2016. **(App.**

¹ On July 29, 2016, MRR and DHEC also filed a Motion to Stay Discovery pending a ruling on the Motions to Dismiss, which was granted on September 7, 2016. **(App. p. 47)**

pp. 88-199) By written order dated December 12, 2016, the ALC granted Petitioners’ motions, holding the County failed to timely fulfill the procedural requirements for bringing a contested case before the ALC. **(App. pp. 42-46)**

On January 11, 2017, the County filed a Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals held oral argument on May 6, 2019, ultimately issuing the Opinion reversing the ALC on January 8, 2020. **(App. pp. 1-15)** Petitioners filed a timely Petition for Rehearing on January 23, 2020, which the Court of Appeals denied on February 14, 2020. **(App. pp. 16-36, 37)** This Court issued a writ of certiorari on December 14, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. MRR’s Permit and Minor Modification to the Permit for the Highway 93 Landfill.

On November 3, 2008, DHEC issued the Permit to MRR to construct and operate a Class 2 landfill on property located at 2180 Greenville Highway, Liberty, South Carolina, in Pickens County (the “Highway 93 Landfill”). **(App. pp. 422-27)** Prior to issuing the Permit, DHEC publicly noticed the agency decision and sent written notice to neighboring landowners and the County. **(App. pp. 694-708)** The County did not object or otherwise contest the Permit, and, importantly, did not request of DHEC that it provide notification of any subsequent modifications to the Permit or to otherwise be treated as an “affected party.” **(App. pp. 513-14, 542 ¶ 4)**

On March 30, 2015, MRR applied for a modification to the Permit to allow for the option to install a liner and associated leachate collection system. **(App. pp. 73-79, 506)** There are two key points for the Court to understand with respect to the liner and collection system: (1) once installed, those features would add greater environmental protection for the Highway 93 Landfill upon its construction and receipt of approved waste streams, **(App. pp. 737, line 17-p. 738, line 23)**; and (2) the installation of those features would not satisfy certain federal requirements for a

landfill to dispose of coal combustion residual from coal-fired electric utilities, (**App. p. 736, line 24-737, line 16**). The efforts by the County to make this Minor Modification controversial stem directly from its abject misrepresentation to the ALC and the Court of Appeals² that this permit modification is the final administrative step to allow MRR to accept coal ash at the Highway 93 Landfill. In fact, on multiple occasions counsel for the County told the ALC that the landfill is “on the verge of receiving thousands of tons of coal ash.” (**App. p. 165, lines 1-4; p. 194, lines 7-11**) But this representation is demonstrably false. First, and fundamentally, other than land-clearing, cell construction of the landfill has not started; for this and many other reasons, the suggestion of imminent disposal of coal ash is merely an attempt by the County to manufacture hysteria and controversy.

But even beyond that obvious infirmity, the record evidence is undisputed in this case that the Permit, as originally issued in 2008, and which the County concedes is still valid, allows for the receipt of coal ash and other Class II waste streams *only if* MRR first obtains separate and independent approval from DHEC which is not encompassed by the Minor Modification (i.e., MRR would need *this same approval* even with the Minor Modification is affirmed). (**App. pp. 519; 736, line 24 to p. 737, line 16; p. 739, line 25 to p. 740, line 6**) To date, MRR has neither sought nor obtained that approval. (**App. p. 739, lines 18-24**) This is so because the modifications sought by MRR do not, in and of themselves, allow the landfill to accept additional categories of waste or an increased volume of waste, including coal ash. (**App. p. 737, line 21-p. 738, line 18**)

² In reading the Opinion, one gets the sense that the Court of Appeals fully subscribed to the County’s unsupported assertions in its pleadings regarding coal ash, along with the associated assignments of nefarious conduct on the part of MRR and DHEC, despite the same being directly contradicted by the record. It is likely, therefore, that the misapprehension of the coal ash issue resulted in the Opinion’s disregard of the applicable standard of review in order to reach *de novo* determinations on the merits of the underlying contested case.

The modifications sought by MRR do not change the Highway 93 Landfill from a Class 2 to a Class 3 landfill. **(App. p. 517)** The liner simply is an environmental upgrade. **(App. p. 517)** Perhaps unsurprisingly, DHEC did not identify a reason why a request to add greater environmental protection to a Class 2 landfill, prior to construction, would be controversial or warrant denial. **(App. p. 734, lines 13-22)**

On August 10, 2015, after determining the modification to give MRR the option to install a liner to be minor, DHEC staff issued the Minor Modification. **(App. pp. 73-79)** It mailed the Minor Modification to MRR the same day. **(App. p. 73)** Prior to issuing its decision, DHEC did not publicly notice or provide a comment period on its decision because DHEC interpreted its regulations in its discretion, as it is charged by law to do, to provide that MRR's requested modification qualified as "minor" within S.C. Code Reg. 61-107.19, Part I, B. 48a. **(App. p. 513)** DHEC explained that the addition of a liner and associated leachate collection system under these circumstances qualified as a minor modification because it was an environmental upgrade, it would *not* substantially change the operations of the landfill (once constructed), it would *not* allow the facility to accept non-Class 2 (*i.e.*, Class 3) waste, it would *not* allow the facility to accept additional quantities of waste, and the landfill remained permitted as a Class 2 facility. **(App. p. 517)** As the County neither requested any further notifications regarding the Permit nor to be treated as an "affected party," DHEC did not mail a copy of the Minor Modification to the County on August 10, 2015.

II. The County's knowledge of and belated challenge to the Minor Modification.

According to the record, the County obtained actual knowledge of the Minor Modification in December 2015 and, at the latest, in January 2016, and used the Minor Modification against MRR in separate litigation in February 2016. These facts are not in dispute:

- On December 15, 2015, DHEC staff met with representatives from the County and discussed the Minor Modification “at length” (**App. pp. 542-43 ¶ 5; 546 ¶ 6**);
- On January 11, 2016, DHEC e-mailed the County a copy of the Minor Modification (**App. p. 550**);
- On January 11, 2016, the County issued a Land Use Approval Termination Letter to MRR confirming its knowledge and receipt of the Minor Modification (**App. pp. 552-53**);
- On February 17, 2016, Gerald Wilson, an employee of the County, signed an affidavit attesting that he was aware of the Minor Modification (**App. pp. 545-48**); and
- On February 18, 2016, the County attached a copy of the Minor Modification as an exhibit to a brief submitted to the circuit court in litigation stemming from the County's Land Use Approval Terminal Letter (**App. p. 566**).

III. The County's failure to exhaust its administrative remedies before commencing an untimely and improper contested case proceeding.

Despite its actual knowledge and use of the Minor Modification, the County did not file its request for review with the DHEC Board until March 23, 2016. (**App. pp. 203-14**) This was 226 days after DHEC staff issued the Minor Modification, 99 days after the County received actual notice of it, 72 days after it indisputably received a copy of it, 72 days after it used the Minor Modification to terminate MRR's ability to begin ramping up construction on the landfill via county land use laws, 35 days after former County Administrator signed an affidavit admitting the County's knowledge of the Minor Modification, and 34 days after the County submitted the Minor Modification as evidence in other court proceedings.

Following the County's belated request for a final review conference, DHEC staff issued a recommendation that the Department deny the request for review as untimely because the County did not file it within the 15-day window imposed by § 44-1-60(E)(2). (**App. pp. 513-543**) The

staff memorandum explained that “the Department determined that the application met the regulatory definition of a minor permit modification” and as a result “a public notice and comment period was not required prior to issuance of the permit modification by the Department.” (**App. p. 513**) The DHEC Board declined the request for review on April 21, 2016. (**App. pp. 201-02**) The County thereafter commenced a contested case on May 19, 2016. (**App. p. 200**) Petitioners each moved to dismiss the County’s Request for Contested Case Proceeding on the narrow ground that the County’s request for review was untimely, meaning both that the County failed to exhaust its administrative remedies and that the ALC was deprived of jurisdiction to hear the matter. (**App. pp. 215-32, 488-639**) During the hearing on Petitioners’ motions, the ALC admonished the parties against presenting evidence and arguments related to the merits of the County’s underlying claim that the modification was major and thus, notice was required. (**App. p. 168, lines 13-22**)

Following oral argument, the ALC granted Petitioners’ motions. The ALC’s order was appropriately limited to the discrete issues presented. In pertinent part, the ALC held as follows:

- “[The County] was given various forms of notice over a period of months. However, [the County] still waited months before filing a request for review.” (**App. p. 44**)
- “In part, the County argues that it did not have the opportunity to take action because DHEC improperly classified the matter as a minor permit modification, which exempted the Department from the public notice and comment procedure followed for major modifications and new constructions. Whether the Department improperly classified the modification, and whether it should have granted the modification, is a matter that can only be decided in a hearing on the merits of this case. However, the matter currently before the Court is [Petitioners’] motions to dismiss this case on procedural grounds.” (**App. pp. 44-45**)
- “[The County] also argues that DHEC’s failure to comply with the notice requirements in the regulation is the reason it filed the request for review months late. However, this argument is foreclosed by the fact that Petitioner received actual notice on multiple occasions and still failed to take prompt action.” (**App. p. 45**)
- “Using the last possible date of notice still renders [the County’s] request untimely.” (**App. p. 45**)

- Equitable tolling is inapplicable because “the County had actual notice of the decision made by DHEC, but failed to pursue the available administrative remedies in a timely fashion, and has not stated a legally valid or compelling reason for its failure.” (**App. p. 45**)

The ALC emphasized both at hearing and in its resulting Order the fact the County gave no legitimate reason for not filing its request for final review with the DHEC Board within 15-days of receiving actual notice of the Minor Modification. (**App. pp. 45, 163, 174-76, 181**) As a consequence, the ALC dismissed the contested case as untimely under § 44-1-60(E)(2). (**App. p. 45**) The ALC made no other findings of fact.

IV. *De novo* findings of fact and other errors of law in the Opinion.

The County thereafter appealed the ALC’s dismissal to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals reversed primarily based on its conclusion that the time to file a request for review does not begin running “upon a party’s simply learning of a permit action,”³ but instead “begins to run only after DHEC issues a staff decision in compliance with applicable statutory and regulatory notice safeguards.” (**App. p. 13**)

According to the Opinion, resolution of that question hinges on whether DHEC’s modification to the permit was “minor” or “major,” a question the ALC specifically did not and declined to answer. *See id.* Rather than adhere to the standard of determining whether substantial evidence exists to support the findings of the ALC or, in the alternative, remand for further consideration and fact finding on this issue, the Court of Appeals made *de novo* findings of fact that largely adopted, in full, the County’s version of facts as set forth in its pleadings and during

³ Of course, the County here did not “simply learn[] of a permit action.” It had an in-depth discussion with DHEC regarding the Minor Modification, obtained a copy of it directly from DHEC, and used it to take adverse action against MRR in separate litigation, all well in advance of filing the request for review.

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