THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000448

RECEIVED

Feb 22 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Pickens County,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and
MRR Pickens, LLC,

Respondent,

Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PICKENS COUNTY

Amy E. Armstrong
Michael G. Corley
South Carolina Environmental Law Project
Mailing address: Post Office Box 1380
Pawleys Island, SC 29585
Office address: 407 Church St
Georgetown, SC 29440
Telephone: (843) 527-0078

Gary Poliakoff
Poliakoff & Associates, P.A.
215 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306

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

This reasoning is both evident from the plain language of the statute and applicable regulations and is consistent with this Court's precedent in *Coastal Conservation League*, cited above. In that case, the Coastal Conservation League filed for Department Board review under section 44-1-60 more than fifteen days after the Department Staff decision. 390 S.C. at 423, 702 S.E.2d at 249. However, the Department had not followed the statutorily required process in mailing notice to the Coastal Conservation League, causing the League to receive its legally-entitled notice after the limitations period had expired. *Id.* at 422, 702 S.E.2d 248-49. This Court determined that the Department had failed to notify the Coastal Conservation League in the manner required under section 44-1-60 and that the time limitations in that section did not start to run until the Department corrected its error.⁴ *Id.* at 430, 702 S.E.2d at 253. The court of

⁴ Particularly, the Supreme Court held,

Section 44-1-60(E) requires DHEC to simultaneously send notice of its decision to the applicant, permittee, licensee, and affected persons requesting to be notified by certified mail, and the decision becomes final fifteen days after the decision has been mailed. In this case, we find that because the League was an affected

appeals correctly recognized exactly this same principle of law when it reversed the ALC's dismissal of Pickens County's appeal.

The Department and MRR point to the League's filing of its request for final review within fifteen days of receiving actual notice as proof that *Coastal Conservation League* is unhelpful to the County. **(Pet. Br. 16)**. However, they fail to account for the significant and particularly relevant distinction at play between this case and *Coastal Conservation League*: the Department here never corrected its notice failure in relation to Pickens County and other adjoining property owners,⁵ instead relying upon "actual notice." Notably, in *Coastal Conservation League*, the League indicated its knowledge of the permit issuance in an email, which was then confirmed by Department staff; neither the League's existing knowledge of the permit nor the Department's confirmation *via email* satisfied the statute. *Id.* at 422-23; 702 S.E.2d at 249. Instead, the triggering event was not, in fact, the League's actual notice, but the Department's correction of its error and mailing of the decision to the League, in compliance with the statute. *See id.* at 430-31; 702 S.E.2d at 253.

The holding in *Coastal Conservation League* was based on the plain language of section 44-1-60, which clearly communicates that proper notice under the statute is required before the statutory limitations period is triggered. As discussed in further detail above, the procedures in

person who asked to be notified, the decision did not become final until fifteen days after DHEC mailed the decision to the League.

Coastal Conservation League, 390 S.C. at 430-31; 702 S.E.2d at 253.

⁵ S.C. Reg. 61-107.19, Part I, D(2)(a)-(g) require notice to adjoining landowners, regardless of whether they request such notice. None of the adjoining landowners ever received any kind of notice from the Department or MRR, not even the late, insufficient "actual notice" that the County arguably received. **(R. pp. 428-58)**

section 44-1-60 particularly emphasize the necessity and the degree of public notification and input during the Department's evaluation of a permitting or licensing decision, as reflected by subsection (B), which mandates Department Staff "comply with all requirements for public notice, receipt of public comments and public hearings *before* making a department decision." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(B) (emphasis added). It is only after the Department issues a staff decision in compliance with procedural and public notice requirements that subsection (E) dictates the appeal of such decision to the Department Board must be filed within fifteen days. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E)(2).

It follows as a matter of precedent and statutory interpretation, and indeed as a matter of practical and logical necessity, that a Department decision issued without the appropriate public notice cannot be shielded from challenge by the time limitation in section 44-1-60(E). The alternative would create the perverse incentive for an entity to circumvent review of controversial agency decisions that would be protected from legal challenge through the conscious decision to provide deficient or contorted public notice. *See Hamm v. Pub. Svs. Comm*, 287 S.C. 180, 181-82, 336 S.E.2d 470, 471 (1985) (interpreting the statute at issue to require a thirty-day period for filing an appeal upon notice of the decision instead of upon the time of the decision to prevent an agency from precluding judicial review by concealing its decision until thirty days had expired).

Furthermore, MRR misconstrues and mischaracterizes the legal authority in making its "actual notice" arguments. First, *Bursey v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Env't'l Control* is actually supportive of the County's argument: the issue involving timeliness there centered on whether and when the Department had satisfied its notice obligations under the applicable regulation for decisions relating to mining permits. 369 S.C. 176, 186-89, 631 S.E.2d 899, 905-06 (2006).

Significantly, this Court affirmed the decision of the Mining Council finding the appeals were timely filed based on substantial evidence indicating when the Department had *complied* with its regulatory notice requirements. *Id.* at 188-89, 631 S.E.2d at 906 (emphasis added). Thus, the timeliness of the appeals in *Burse* hinged on the Department's compliance with the applicable notice requirements, which is distinguished from its failure to do so in the present case.

Second, *A.O. Smith Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control* similarly supports the court of appeals' opinion in this case, not negates it. 428 S.C 189, 833 S.E.2d 451 (Ct. App. 2019). The court's holding rested on its determination that the final approvals A.O. Smith sought to challenge were not staff decisions subject to appeal under section 44-1-60; although Smith had timely appealed the Final Approvals, it had failed to timely challenge the earlier issuance of several permits, which *were* subject to appeal. *Id.* at 204-08, 833 S.E.2d at 459-61. MRR's assertion that the decision in *A.O. Smith* rested on "actual notice" is inaccurate, and it ignores this notable distinction with the present case: A.O. Smith never alleged the Department failed to comply with mandatory notice provisions as is present here. *Id.* at 198-99, 833 S.E.2d at 456-57. Instead, Smith acknowledged the Department "was *not obligated by the regulations* to issue any public notice for the construction permits at issue." *Id.* (emphasis added). Furthermore, A.O. Smith waited several years despite its awareness that construction was ongoing, intentionally waiting until construction was complete because it could not determine if the new water wells could supply adequate capacity until their completion. *Id.* at 198, 833 S.E.2d at 456. Finally, before affirming the ALC's dismissal for an untimely appeal, the court of appeals aptly noted the ALC's conclusion that although "public notice was not required for the permits, [A.O. Smith] had notice and *the opportunity to make comments or request notification*

as an affected person pursuant to section 44-1-60(E) and to challenge those decisions to the board.” *Id.* at 204-05, 833 S.E.2d at 460 (emphasis added).

The decisions in *Coastal Conservation League, Bursey*, and *A.O. Smith* all demonstrate the crucial factor in evaluating timeliness is whether the applicant and the Department complied with any applicable statutory and regulatory notice safeguards. Because the Department failed in its public notice and comment obligations in relation to MRR’s permit modification, Pickens County’s actual receipt of the final issued permit is insufficient to cure the prior failure and does not trigger the fifteen-day period to request a final review conference. The court of appeals correctly recognized this significant flaw in the rationale of the ALC and the Petitioners and applied this Court’s precedent accordingly.

C. The Court of Appeals has not Authorized an Infinite or Indefinite Appeal Period.

The Petitioners have raised the proposition that the court of appeals’ opinion, if taken to its logical conclusion, would dictate either that Pickens County could have delayed indefinitely without consequence in filing its permit challenge, or that no permit issued by the Department will hereafter ever be truly final. **(Pet. Br. 17-18)**. While such propositions are obviously flawed, the County does agree that, for the sake of order and administration, every Department permit must reach finality, even those that were issued without proper public notice. If the Department makes an error in noticing a permit decision, such permit decision is not forever open to challenge, and the court of appeals decision does not stand for such a proposition. Rather, the court of appeals held, as the County argued, merely that the fifteen-day limitations period under section 44-1-60 cannot be the measure of timeliness when proper notice under that statute has not been provided. **(R. pp. 9-13)**. The court of appeals’ holding in this case does not provide that an affected party who has been denied proper notice of a permitting decision can

unnecessarily delay in appealing that permit, but it does provide that such party is not limited to appealing within a statutory limitations period when the Department fails to provide the required statutory notice.

The court of appeals' decision in *A.O. Smith* is instructive on this point. As discussed above, A.O. Smith deliberately waited *several years* despite its awareness that construction was ongoing, intentionally waiting to challenge the permitted actions because it could not determine if the new water wells could supply adequate capacity until their completion. 428 S.C. at 198, 833 S.E.2d at 456. The ALC correctly noted this unreasonable failure to act timely and concluded that although "public notice was not required for the permits, [A.O. Smith] had notice and the opportunity to make comments or request notification as an affected person pursuant to section 44-1-60(E) and to challenge those decisions to the board." *Id.* at 204-05, 833 S.E.2d at 460 (emphasis added). The present case is significantly different as the County's delay was less than two months beyond the end of the fifteen-day time period triggered by the County's receipt of a copy of the issued permit modification on January 11, 2016, as suggested by Petitioners as the relevant date. **(R. pp. 542-43; 546; 550; Pet. Br. 7-8)**. Notably, the County only received this notice months after the permit was issued and never had the same "opportunity to make comments" during the permitting process as A.O. Smith did. *Id.* **(R. pp. 542-43; 546; 550; Pet. Br. 7-8)**.

In sum, the Petitioners' assertion that this case will prevent the finality of permitting decisions is overstated. An affected party seeking review for which it did not receive the legally required notice far beyond the deadline is likely to be uncommon. Nonetheless, our courts' precedent provides a framework for evaluating the timeliness of the party's challenge in light of the Department's failure to satisfy its obligations to provide notice and the opportunity for

comment. This is precisely the analysis the County argued for in this case and that the court of appeals correctly conducted.

II. The Court of Appeals Properly Exercised Authority under the Administrative Procedures Act.

MRR and the Department argue that the court of appeals applied the incorrect standard of review, or otherwise overreached, in considering whether the permit modification was “major” or “minor.” (**Pet. Br. 20-29**). For the reasons that follow, such arguments are misguided.

A. The Court of Appeals Applied the Correct Standard of Review for a Legal Error.

An appellate court’s role is to correct a lower court’s failure to undertake all necessary inquiries in evaluating a legal standard, not, as MRR and the Department seem to argue, to identically constrain its evaluation. *See CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877 (2011); *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 629 S.E.2d 624 (2006). While MRR and the Department rely on the substantial evidence standard of review, it ignores the existence of an additional standard of review: “[t]he decision of the Administrative Law Court should not be overturned unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence *or controlled by some error of law.*” *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 604, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added). “Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which this Court is free to decide without any deference to the tribunal below.” *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). Moreover, the Administrative Procedures Act, which provides the applicable standard of review here, explains that the ALC’s order may be reversed if it is “in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions” or “affected by other error of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–610(C).

In considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), “the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint.” *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper. *Id.*

Under the “Discovery” heading in its opinion, the court of appeals concluded that the ALC effectively converted the Petitioners’ motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) to a motion for summary judgment, thereby committing an error of law. **(R. pp. 14)**. The ALC plainly did not apply a Rule 12(b)(6) standard of review, instead considering evidence beyond what was presented by and in the light most favorable to the County. *See id.* at 106, 628 S.E.2d at 874 (requiring the facts and inferences to be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss).

As an initial matter, Petitioners arguments regarding the court of appeals’ ruling in the “Discovery” heading is unpreserved for this Court’s review because they failed to raise it in the petitions for rehearing to the Court of Appeals. *Doe ex rel. Roe v. Orangeburg County Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 335 S.C. 556, 518 S.E.2d 259 (1999) (finding issue not raised in petition for rehearing to the court of appeals was not preserved for review before the Supreme Court).

With respect to the merits, the court of appeals was not constrained in its remedying of the ALC’s error by undertaking the appropriate legal analysis. The court of appeals properly evaluated the motions to dismiss under the appropriate standard, considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the County—specifically, whether Pickens County’s permit appeal was timely, in light of the legally insufficient notice it received. **(R. pp. 9-14)**.

Before the ALC, Petitioners framed their motions to dismiss the request for a contested case hearing as one of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1), SCRC. **(R. pp. 215-221; 88-199)**. Specifically, Petitioners argued the County failed to satisfy the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies. **(Id.)**. However, the exhaustion doctrine is not a question of subject matter jurisdiction, and the ALC made clear in its order that it had subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case. *See Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enforcement Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 280 n.3, 721 S.E.2d 423, 425 n.3 (2012) (holding failure to exhaust administrative remedies is not an appropriate basis for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(1)); **(R. pp. 43-44)**. In light of this recognition by the ALC, it should have treated the motions to dismiss as ones under Rule 12(b)(6), but it failed to apply the appropriate standard, which was the principle behind the court of appeals' holding under its "Discovery" heading. **(R. pp. 14; 42-46)**.

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